The Plane of Corruption





Compatibility with the Pathfinder Roleplaying Game requires the Pathfinder Roleplaying Game from Paizo Inc.. See http://paizo.com/pathfinderRPG for more information on the Pathfinder Roleplaying Game. Paizo Inc. does not guarantee compatibility, and does not endorse this product.

Pathfinder is a registered trademark of Paizo Inc., and the Pathfinder Roleplaying Game and the Pathfinder Roleplaying Game Compatibility Logo are trademarks of Paizo Inc., and are used under the Pathfinder Roleplaying Game Compatibility License. See <u>http://paizo.com/pathfinderRPG/compatibility</u> for more information on the compatibility license.

Open Game License v 1.0a Copyright 2000, Wizards of the Coast, Inc.

System Reference Document. Copyright 2000, Wizards of the Coast, Inc.; Authors Jonathan Tweet, Monte Cook, Skip Williams, based on material by E. Gary Gygax and Dave Arneson.

Pathfinder Roleplaying Game Core Rulebook. Copyright 2009, Paizo Inc.; Author: Jason Bulmahn, based on material by Jonathan Tweet, Monte Cook, and Skip Williams.

The Book of Experimental Might. Copyright 2008, Monte J. Cook. All rights reserved. Tome of Horrors. Copyright 2002, Necromancer Games, Inc.; Authors: Scott Greene, with Clark Peterson, Erica Balsley, Kevin Baase, Casey Christofferson, Lance Hawvermale, Travis Hawvermale, Patrick Lawinger, and Bill Webb; Based on original content from TSR.

Pathfinder and associated marks and logos are trademarks of Paizo Inc., and are used under license. See <u>paizo.com/pathfinderRPG</u> for more information on the Pathfinder Roleplaying Game.

The Plane of Corruption is a dangerous world, containing some of the vilest magic, and destructive and harmful energies. Those who live on the Plane of Corruption have been twisted and contorted due to years of living on the plane, and using magical protection to ensure their safety.

This book details the society and culture on the Plane of Corruption, its inhabitants, magic, racial archetypes, and much more.

Contents

| The Plane of Corruption | 4 |
|----------------------------|----|
| Corrupted Magic | 4 |
| Corrupted Enhancement | 4 |
| Races | 5 |
| Kendari | 5 |
| Beyonder | 7 |
| Archetypes | 9 |
| Injection Chemist | 9 |
| Corrupted Rager | 10 |
| Kendarin Soldier | 11 |
| Dark Guardian | 11 |
| Liberator | 12 |
| Plane of Corruption Traits | |
| Ties to Corruption | 13 |
| Blessed/Profane Heir | |
| Blazing Corruption | 13 |
| Racial Hatred | |
| Corrupted Spells | |
| Corrupting Touch | |
| Forced Amalgamation | |
| Corrupted Spell | |
| Greater Corrupted Spell | 16 |

The Plane of Corruption

A vast wasteland filled with miles of uncharted land. There is very little variation in the plane's climate or biome, the ground a dull light purple and the skies a dark metallic silver with a single bright red sun illuminating the landscape or at night a blue moon arises. The Plane of Corruption twists and contorts that which comes in contact with it; people, magic, animals, and plant life alike are torn and tampered with.

Those who come in contact with the Plane of Corruption must make a Fortitude save (DC 20) or take 2 points of Constitution drain. For creatures without Constitution, they gain 2 negative level instead (successful save negates). The 2 points of Constitution drain remain in effect while the character is on the Plane of Corruption and can only be removed once they leave the plane itself.

Corrupted Magic

This type of magic comes in two forms: that which manifests corruption itself, and that which is diluted by the power of corruption.

Manifested: Magic with the corruption subtype is unaffected when cast upon the Plane of Corruption, and draws strength from the energy around it giving it +1 Caster Level when cast.

Diluted: Spells that are being interfered with by corruption energies tend to become erratic and may harm others. The caster must make a concentration check (DC 15 + Double Spell Level).

Corrupted Enhancement

Through the destruction of one's body and mind, spells can be enhanced for a price.

By dealing 1 point of damage to themselves, the caster can cast non-corruption spells on the Plane of Corruption without penalty. By dealing a number of ability damage to themselves equal to the level adjustment of the spell (minimum of 1) they can use a metamagic feat without increasing the level of the spell or casting time.

The caster can give themselves a -1 on a single skill check for the rest of the day to grant themselves a +1 to hit with a spell. This can be done up to a -10 to their skill. Alternatively they can use this same method to heal HP or ability damage. For every penalty to their skill checks added, they gain a point of HP up to a maximum of -20 on the skill and +20 HP. For every 4 points of penalties added to their skill check, they regain 1 to their ability score. A caster doing this can repeat the effects by selecting a new skill to impose penalties on, however this can only ever happen once per round.

Subsets of skills cannot be chosen. (One can impose a penalty on Craft, but not specific Crafts). Using this is a swift action.

Races

The races that reside on the Plane of Corruption are specially equipped to survive in the harsh environment that could threaten their life in an instance.

Kendari

Kendari, also known as Corruption Beasts to non-natives of the Plane of Corruptions, are the ruling race of the Plane of Corruption. They worship their Godking, their creator and the ruler of the plane.

Physical Description: Kendari possess naturally tan skin and eyes that match different shades of red and blue. Their hair is often black, dark brown, and very rarely their hair will be a dirty blonde. More often than not, Kendari warriors are covered with scars due to their belief that scars show a person's history upon their body.

Society: The Plane of Corruption hosts one large metropolis which most of the Kendari live in, choosing to side with their deity and king rather than run astray. Those living in the society are taught from a young age necromatic arts, along with a means to defend themselves.

Relations: Other races do not particularly like the Kendari (or as they call them: "Corruption Beasts"), regarding their nature and very being as evil. While this is true in most cases, there are some that get along with other races, and some races do value the strengths and savagery of these outsiders. Namely, Orcs and the more tribal of humans like the Kendari and adopt them into their societies.

Alignment and Religion: On the Plane of Corruption, there is only one allowed religion for those of the Kendari race, and that is the worship of their Godking. He created the plane, and demanded his creations to worship him else he'd lay waste to those who refused. Kendari are typically anywhere from Lawful Evil to Chaotic Evil.

Adventurers: Many paths stretch out before the Kendari and while some strive towards martial perfection and become fighters, and others strive for magical perfection and become wizards, there are those who choose the path of the Magi and find themselves most comfortable with this option. Still, other paths stretch out before the Kendari that they might take.

Kendari Racial Traits

- +2 Strength, +2 Intelligence, -2 Charisma: Kendari are strong and smart, however their social skills are particularly lacking.
- Outsider (Native): Kendari are outsiders with the native subtype.
- **Medium:** Kendari are Medium creatures and thus receive no bonuses or penalties due to their size.
- Normal Speed: Kendari have a base speed of 30 feet.
- **Tied to Corruption:** Kendari have immunity to Corruption damage, and resist 5 points of negative energy damage. They gain a +2 racial bonus on saving throws against death effects, and spells/spell-like abilities of the necromancy school.
- Darkvision: Kendari can see perfectly in the dark up to 60 feet.
- **Nifty and Intimidating:** Intimidate and Sleight of Hand are always class skills for Kendari.
- **Spell Combat Training:** +2 Racial bonus on Concentration checks and Spell Penetration checks.
- Languages: Kendari begin play speaking Common and Kendarin. Kendari with a high Intelligence scores can choose from any language they want (except for secret languages such as Druidic).

Alternate Racial Traits

- **Torturer:** While some train themselves with casting spells in battle, others focus their magic into harming others. Kendari gain Interrogation as a spell-like ability once per day, and gain a +2 bonus on Intimidate checks. This replaces Spell Combat Training.
- **Muscular:** Not as smart as their brothers, though to make up for it they're twice as strong. Kendari lose their Skill Training, Spell Combat Training, and +2 Racial Bonus to Intelligence, and instead have a total of +4 Strength and a -2 Charisma. This changes their ability scores.
- **Martial Training:** Rather than focusing themselves in stealing and talking people down, others take up weapon training. Kendari gain proficiency with bastard swords, bec de corbins, and greataxes. This replaces Skill Training.
- **Black Magic:** Naturally born to become dark mages, using their dark magic to raise undead and harm the living. Kendari gain a +1 caster level when casting spells of the necromancy school. This replaces Spell Combat Training.

Beyonder

Physical Description: An abnormal creature composed of their innards in their true form, however they are able to magically alter themselves to come together into a humanoid form. The beyonder chooses what their humanoid appearance is, however they do not choose the sex of their humanoid form.

Society: Beyonders do not have their own society, choosing to live in human environments and adapting to their culture and society.

Relations: Though treated relatively well due to their humanoid form while outside of their own plane. However, while on the Plane of Corruption their humanoid form does not work, and their relation with the Kendari is incredibly strained. Kendari often enslave the Beyonders, and the Beyonders are incredibly violent when they are not enslaved and were naturally violent despite the enslavement.

Alignment and Religion: Beyonders are naturally violent and tend to lean towards Chaotic Evil for an alignment, and tend to worship violence and war deities if they worship any deity.

Beyonder Racial Traits

- +2 Intelligence, +2 Charisma: Beyonders are smart enough to remember small details for shapeshifting, and charismatic enough to pull it off.
- Aberration (Beyonder): Beyonders are aberrations with the beyonder subtype.
- **Medium:** Beyonder are Medium creatures and thus receive no bonuses or penalties due to their size.
- Slow & Steadier: Beyonder have a base speed of 20 feet, and their speed is not modified by medium loads or armor however it is for heavy loads and armor.
- Corruption Immunity: Beyonders are immune to Corruption damage.
- **Darkvision:** Beyonder can see perfectly in the dark up to 60 feet.
- Adaptation: Beyonders receive a +2 bonus to Charisma-based checks when interacting with the humanoid they transform into.
- Abnormal Transformation: Beyonders can transform into a humanoid form of their choice, and remain in the form for an indefinite period of time until they willingly turn off the transformation. The Beyonder must select a specific humanoid with a single subtype that they transform into, and this cannot be changed later. They gain a +10 bonus on Disguise checks to keep in-character with the race chosen. This stacks with Adaptation.
- Languages: Beyonders begin play speaking Common and Aklo. Beyonders with a high Intelligence scores can choose from the following languages: Kendarin, Elven, Draconic, Orc, Goblin, Undercommon, and Sylvan. In addition to this, while transformed into their humanoid form they speak the racial language of the creature they've transformed into.

Alternate Racial Traits

- **Enslaved:** Having been enslaved from the start of their life, they don't have much time to socialize and adapt. Instead they learn to talk smoothly and lie. They don't take the penalty from an unlikely lie, but do take penalties from far-fetched and impossible lies. This replaces Adaptation.
- Born from Afar: Due to the lack of ties to the Plane of Corruption over time, they become more attuned to the plane they're on instead. Beyonders gain a +1 luck bonus to attack rolls and saving throws for 1d4+1 rounds, and lose their Corruption Immunity.
- **Strong Thighs:** More trained for movement in their humanoid form and building strong leg muscles, Beyonders gain a +10 foot bonus to speed, but lose the ability to be unaffected by medium loads and armor.

Archetypes

The following archetypes listed are typically paths taken by those who live upon the Plane of Corruption. Those who live on the Material Plane may select these, though an explanation for learning some of these ancient and mysterious arts are warranted such as learning from a Kendari mentor, or discovering an ancient text full of information regarding the classes' technique.

Injection Chemist

The injection chemist is an archetype of the alchemist class.

Injected Mutagen (Ex)

At 1st level, rather than making a potion for them to imbibe the Injection Chemist chooses to instead make a near-lethal dose of their mutagen in a needle format, putting the liquid steroids directly in their veins. When using their Injected Mutagen, the Injection Chemist treats it as if it were a normal mutagen, however he *can* share this mutagen with his allies. Doing so is dangerous and could lead to more harm than good. If an ally uses the Injected Mutagen, they must succeed a fortitude save or suffer a -4 Constitution and -2 penalty on Will saving throws.

The saving throw DC is 10 + half Injection Chemist level + Injection Chemist's intelligence modifier.

This ability changes Mutagen.

Injected Extracts (Su)

An Injection Chemist can share their extracts with allies just as much as they can use it themselves, however doing so may result in more harm than good. If an ally fails a fortitude saving throw (DC 10 + half Injection Chemist level + Injection Chemist's intelligence modifier), they take a -2 penalty to STR, DEX, or CON (roll 1d3 to determine which is harmed) and are sickened for one round. If anyone, including the Injection Chemist uses an extract on the round directly after one was used they must make a fortitude saving throw (DC 10 + Injection Chemist level + Injection Chemist's intelligence modifier) or fall to the ground in a seizure that lasts 2 rounds, rendering them helpless.

This ability changes Extracts.

Syringe Spear Training (Ex)

An Injection Chemist gains Martial Weapon Proficiency (Syringe Spear) as a bonus feat, and can deliver extracts, poisons, and his mutagen through the syringe spear. When delivering an extract through the Syringe Spear that is meant to deal damage to the enemy, it is counted as dealing the extract's damage to them instead of granting them the ability to use the extract's effect.

This ability replaces Bombs.

Swift Reload (Ex)

An Injection Chemist knows the ins and outs of a Syringe Spear, and thus can reload it with ease. It only takes him a full-round action to load a poison, extract, or mutagen into the syringe spear.

This ability replaces Throw Anything.

Corrupted Rager

With ties to the plane of corruption, these savage warriors know only the love of battle and the glory of murder.

The corrupted rager is an archetype of the barbarian class.

Corruption Immunity

A Corrupted Rager originates from the plane of corruption, and can only come about due to the powers of the plane of corruption. They are immune to corruption damage and the ill-effects of the plane of corruption.

Evasion (Ex)

At 2nd level, a Corrupted Rager can avoid even magical and unusual attacks with great agility. If he makes a successful Reflex saving throw against an attack that normally deals half damage on a successful save, he instead takes no damage. Evasion can be used only if the Corrupted Rager is wearing light, medium, no armor. A helpless Corrupted Rager does not gain the benefit of evasion.

This replaces Uncanny Dodge, and the corrupted rager does not gain Uncanny Dodge until 5th level.

Corrupted Strike (Su)

At 4th level, the Corrupted Rager can spend a swift action to give his weapon 1d6 of corruption damage for 3 + Constitution modifier rounds. This can be used once per rage.

This replaces the Rage Power gained at 4th level.

Kendarin Soldier

The Kendarin Soldier is a Kendari racial archetype of the fighter class.

Corruption Strike (Su)

At 1st level, the Kendarin Soldier can spend a swift action to give his blade a swath of corrupting energy. His weapon deals 1d4 points of corruption damage for 3 + Intelligence modifier rounds, and can be used a number of times per day equal to their intelligence modifier.

The corruption damage increases to 1d6 at 4th level, 2d6 at 8th level, 2d8 at 12th level, 2d10 at 16th level, and 2d12 at 20th level. This bonus damage is not modified on a critical hit.

This replaces the bonus feats gained at 1^{st} , 4^{th} , 8^{th} , 12^{th} , 16^{th} , and 20^{th} levels.

Recklessness (Ex)

Starting at 2nd level, a Kendarin Soldier gains a +1 Dodge bonus to AC when passing through threatened squares. This increases by +1 for every four levels beyond 2nd.

This replaces Bravery.

Dark Guardian

The Dark Guardian is an archetype of the fighter class.

Chaotic Defender

A Dark Guardian must be of any one of the Chaotic alignments. In addition to this, he gains the Protection Domain as the Cleric domain. He does not gain any of the subdomains from Protection.

He does not gain the use of the spells listed however instead of 3 + Wisdom modifier, Resistance Touch can be used 4 + Wisdom modifier times per day. He treats his Dark Guardian levels as Cleric levels for these abilities.

This replaces the Bonus Feats gained at 1st and 8th levels.

Aegis

At 2^{nd} level the Dark Guardian can use the Protection Variant Channeling as the Cleric alternate class feature. This bonus/penalty (depending on alignment) starts at +1 at 2^{nd} level, and increases by +1 at every four levels thereafter. He can use this ability a number of times per day equal to $\frac{1}{2}$ his Dark Guardian level.

This replaces Bravery.

Liberator

The Liberator is an archetype of the Paladin class.

True Justice

A Liberator must be Chaotic Good as opposed to Chaotic Evil.

Smite Corruption

This functions as the Paladin's smite evil class feature except instead of outsiders with the evil subtype, the damage instead applies to creatures from the Plane of Corruption.

This changes Smite Evil.

Aura of Liberty

At 3rd level, a Liberator is immune to fear (magical or otherwise). Each ally within 10 feet of her is immune to movement restricting their movement speed (such as hold person). This ability functions only while the paladin is conscious, not if she is unconscious or dead.

This changes Aura of Courage.

Destruction of Corruption

This functions as the Holy Champion Paladin class feature, except instead of affecting evil outsiders the banishment applies to creatures from the Plane of Corruption.

This changes Holy Champion.

Plane of Corruption Traits

These traits are for characters who come from the Plane of Corruption, or who have blood ties to said plane. Some of these are related to the Plane, though others are simply cultural rather than physically related to living upon the Plane of Corruption.

Ties to Corruption

Your ancestral blood ties to the Plane of Corruption in such a way that you are unaffected by its harmful energies.

Benefit: The harmful effects of the Plane of Corruption do not hinder you. In addition, you gain a +2 bonus on saving throws against any spell with the [corruption] descriptor.

Blessed/Profane Heir

A deity has blessed your birth, placing a mark upon your body. Whether it is blessed or profane depends on the deities' mark.

Benefit: Gain the benefit of one 0th level divine spell from the Cleric spell list. If the character is already a Cleric, they gain a bonus 0th level spell per day.

Blazing Corruption

The corruption magic that flows through your spellcasting is even more potent.

Benefit: Any spell with the [corruption] descriptor gains a +1 bonus to damage if it is a spell with damage attached to it. This does not function on non-damaging spells. In addition, once per day a spell can be counted as having a [corruption] spell without being diluted.

Racial Hatred

There is a specific race which you despise with all of your heart.

Benefit: When making attack rolls, skill check, ability checks, or saving throws against the creature selected add a +1 trait bonus. Once per day they can instead give themselves a +5 trait bonus instead of a +1.

Corrupted Spells

The following are spells which use corruption as an element, drawing directly from the Plane of Corruption for energies. The spells are either modified versions of everyday spells instead diluted and morphed by the element, or spells specifically made with corruption in mind. Any spell cast with the [corruption] descriptor is considered an evil act unless specifically stated otherwise.

Corrupting Touch

School evocation [corruption]; Level sorcerer/wizard 2, magus 2, witch 2, antipaladin 2

CASTING

Casting Time 1 standard action **Components** V, S

EFFECT

Range touch Target creature or object touched Duration instantaneous Saving Throw Fortitude Partial, Will Negates (see text); Spell Resistance yes

DESCRIPTION

One creature touched is wracked with immense pain as their body is surrounded by corrupted energies which seek to tear the target to pieces from the inside out. This deals 1d6 points of corruption damage per level (max 10d6 damage) and the target must make a fortitude save to halve the damage. The user of this spell must make a Will Save equal to the damage dealt or turn Chaotic Evil for 2 rounds, if they already aren't already Chaotic Evil.

Forced Amalgamation

School transmutation [corruption]; Level witch 4

CASTING

Casting Time 1 full-round action Components V, S, M (the heart of a defenseless animal)

EFFECT

Range touch Target creature or object touched Duration instantaneous Saving Throw Fortitude Negates; Spell Resistance yes

DESCRIPTION

While a creature is helpless, the caster can use this spell on said creature in order to force their body to transform and contort to their will.

The subject of this spell must make a fortitude save or take a 4 points of Constitution drain and be afflicted with one of the following penalties:

- Long Neck: -2 AC vs critical confirmation rolls.
- Crab Pincers: The target loses the ability to hold things in their hands, and cast spells with somatic components, however they gain two 1d4 claw attack.
- Webbed Feet: The target gains a 10 foot base swim speed, but cannot stand properly on land and must fall prone at the end of their turn.
- Additional Pounds: Increasing the target's weight to such a degree, they lose up to 20 feet of their fly speed (minimum of a 5 foot fly speed), but gain a +4 bonus on Swim checks.

Corrupted Spell

School evocation [corruption]; Level sorcerer/wizard 3, magus 3, witch 3, antipaladin 3

CASTING

Casting Time 1 standard action **Components** V, S

EFFECT

Range special (see text) Target special (see text) Duration instantaneous Saving Throw special (see text); Spell Resistance special (see text)

DESCRIPTION

Copy one evocation spell which deals energy damage or necromancy spell which deals negative energy damage. This spell instead deals corruption damage. This spell must be 2nd level or lower.

Greater Corrupted Spell

School evocation [corruption]; Level sorcerer/wizard 5, magus 5, witch 5

CASTING

Casting Time 1 standard action **Components** V, S

EFFECT

Range special (see text) Target special (see text) Duration instantaneous Saving Throw special (see text); Spell Resistance special (see text)

DESCRIPTION

Copy one evocation spell which deals energy damage or necromancy spell which deals negative energy damage. This spell instead deals corruption damage. This spell must be 4th level or lower.

Credits: Writer: Jeremy Harris Artist: Dutch Dennis

Product Identity: The following items are hereby identified as Product Identity, as defined in the Open Game License 1.0a, Section 1(e), and are not Open Content: All trademarks, registered trademarks, proper names (characters, deities, etc.), dialogue, plots, storylines, locations, characters, artworks, and trade dress. (Elements that have previously been designated as Open Game Content are not included in this declaration.)

Open Content: Except for material designated as Product Identity (see above), the game mechanics of this Black Flame Studios game product are Open Game Content, as defined in the Open Game License version 1.0a Section 1(d). No portion of this work other than the material designated as Open Game Content may be reproduced in any form without written permission.

The following text is the property of Wizards of the Coast, Inc. and is Copyright 2000 Wizards of the Coast, Inc. ("Wizards"). All Rights Reserved.

1. Definitions: (a)"Contributors" means the copyright and/or trademark owners who have contributed Open Game Content; (b)"Derivative Material" means copyrighted material including derivative works and translations (including into other computer languages), potation, modification, correction, addition, extension, upgrade, improvement, compilation, abridgment or other form in which an existing work may be recast, transformed or adapted; (c) "Distribute" means to reproduce, license, rent, lease, sell, broadcast, publicly display, transmit or otherwise distribute; (d)"Open Game Content" means the game mechanic and includes the methods, procedures, processes and routines to the extent such content does not embody the Product Identity and is an enhancement over the prior art and any additional content clearly identified as Open Game Content by the Contributor, and means any work covered by this License, including translations and derivative works under copyright law, but specifically excludes Product Identity. (e) "Product Identity" means product and product line names, logos and identifying marks including trade dress; artifacts; creatures characters; stories, storylines, plots, thematic elements, dialogue, incidents, language, artwork, symbols, designs, depictions, likenesses, formats, poses, concepts, themes and graphic, photographic and other visual or audio representations; names and descriptions of characters, spells, enchantments, personalities, teams, personas, likenesses and special abilities; places, locations, environments, creatures, equipment, magical or supernatural abilities or effects, logos, symbols, or graphic designs; and any other trademark or registered trademark clearly identified as Product identity by the owner of the Product Identity, and which specifically excludes the Open Game Content; (f) "Trademark' means the logos, names, mark, sign, motto, designs that are used by a Contributor to identify itself or its products or the associated products contributed to the Open Game License by the Contributor (g) "Use", "Used" or "Using" means to use, Distribute, copy, edit, of Open Game Content. (h) "You" or "Your" means the licensee in terms of this agreement.

2. The License: This License applies to any Open Game Content that contains a notice indicating that the Open Game Content may only be Used under and in terms of this License. You must affix such a notice to any Open Game Content that you Use. No terms may be added to or subtracted from this License except as described by the License itself. No other terms or conditions may be applied to any Open Game Content distributed using this License.

3. Offer and Acceptance: By Using the Open Game Content You indicate Your acceptance of the terms of this License.

4. Grant and Consideration: In consideration for agreeing to use this License, the Contributors grant You a perpetual, worldwide, royalty-free, non-exclusive license with the exact terms of this License to Use, the Open Game Content.

5. Representation of Authority to Contribute: If You are contributing original material as Open Game Content, You represent that Your Contributions are Your original creation and/or You have sufficient rights to grant the rights conveyed by this License.

6. Notice of License Copyright: You must update the COPYRIGHT NOTICE portion of this License to include the exact text of the COPYRIGHT NOTICE of any Open Game Content You are copying, modifying or distributing, and You must add the title, the copyright date, and the copyright holder's name to the COPYRIGHT NOTICE of any original Open Game Content you Distribute.

7. Use of Product Identity: You agree not to Use any Product Identity, including as an indication as to compatibility, except as expressly licensed in another, independent Agreement with the owner of each element of that Product Identity. You agree not to indicate compatibility or co-adaptability with any Trademark or Registered Trademark in conjunction with a work containing Open Game Content except as expressly licensed in another, independent Agreement with the owner of such Trademark or Registered Trademark. The use of any Product Identity in Open Game Content does not constitute a challenge to the ownership of that Product Identity. The owner of any Product Identity used in Open Game Content shall retain all rights, title and interest in and to that Product Identity.

8. Identification: If you distribute Open Game Content You must clearly indicate which portions of the work that you are distributing are Open Game Content.

9. Updating the License: Wizards or its designated Agents may publish updated versions of this License. You may use any authorized version of this License to copy, modify and distribute any Open Game Content originally distributed under any version of this License.

10. Copy of this License: You MUST include a copy of this License with every copy of the Open Game Content You Distribute.

11. Use of Contributor Credits: You may not market or advertise the Open Game Content using the name of any Contributor unless You have written permission from the Contributor to do so.

12. Inability to Comply: If it is impossible for You to comply with any of the terms of this License with respect to some or all of the Open Game Content due to statute, judicial order, or governmental regulation then You may not Use any Open Game Material so affected.

13. Termination: This License will terminate automatically if You fail to comply with all terms herein and fail to cure such breach within 30 days of becoming aware of the breach. All sublicenses shall survive the termination of this License.

14. Reformation: If any provision of this License is held to be unenforceable, such provision shall be reformed only to the extent necessary to make it enforceable.

15. COPYRIGHT NOTICE

Open Game License v 1.0 Copyright 2000, Wizards of the Coast, lnc.

System Reference Document. Copyright 2000, Wizards of the Coast, Inc.; Authors Jonathan Tweet, Monte Cook, Skip Williams, based on material by E. Gary Gygax and Dave Arneson.

Pathfinder Roleplaying Game Reference Document. © 2011, Paizo Publishing, LLC; Author: Paizo Publishing, LLC.

The Plane of Corruption Copyright 2015, Black Flame Studios; Author: Jeremy Harris.

Pathfinder Roleplaying Game Core Rulebook. © 2009, Paizo Publishing, LLC; Author: Jason Bulmahn, based on material by Jonathan Tweet, Monte Cook, and Skip Williams.

Pathfinder Roleplaying Game Ultimate Magic. © 2011, Paizo Publishing, LLC; Authors: Jason Bulmahn, Tim Hitchcock, Colin McComb, Rob McCreary, Jason Nelson, Stephen Radney-MacFarland, Sean K Reynolds, Owen K.C. Stephens, and Russ Taylor.

The Book of Experimental Might. $\ensuremath{\mathbb S}$ 2008, Monte J. Cook. All rights reserved.

Tome of Horrors. © 2002, Necromancer Games, Inc.; Authors: Scott Greene, with Clark Peterson, Erica Balsley, Kevin Baase, Casey Christofferson, Lance Hawvermale, Travis Hawvermale, Patrick Lawinger, and Bill Webb; Based on original content from TSR.

Anger of Angels. © 2003, Sean K Reynolds.

Book of Fiends. \circledast 2003, Green Ronin Publishing; Authors: Aaron Loeb, Erik Mona, Chris Pramas, Robert J. Schwalb.

The Book of Hallowed Might. © 2002, Monte J. Cook.

Monte Cook's Arcana Unearthed. © 2003, Monte J. Cook.

Path of the Magi. @ 2002 Citizen Games/Troll Lord Games; Authors: Mike McArtor, W. Jason Peck, Jeff Quick, and Sean K Reynolds.

Skreyn's Register: The Bonds of Magic. © 2002, Sean K Reynolds.

Angel, Monadic Deva from the *Tome of Horrors, Revised*, © 2002, Necromancer Games, Inc.; Author: Scott Greene, based on original material by E. Gary Gygax.

Angel, Movanic Deva from the *Tome of Horrors, Revised*, © 2002, Necromancer Games, Inc.; Author: Scott Greene, based on original material by E. Gary Gygax.

Brownie from the *Tome of Horrors, Revised*, © 2002, Necromancer Games, Inc.; Author: Scott Greene, based on original material by E. Gary Gygax. Daemon, Ceustodaemon (Guardian Daemon) from the Tome of Horrors, Revised, © 2002, Necromancer Games, Inc.; Author: Scott Greene, based on original material by E. Gary Gygax.

Daemon, Derghodaemon from the *Tome of Horrors, Revised*, © 2002, Necromancer Games, Inc.; Author: Scott Greene, based on original material by E. Gary Gygax.

Daemon, Hydrodaemon from the *Tome of Horrors, Revised*, © 2002, Necromancer Games, Inc.; Author: Scott Greene, based on original material by E. Gary Gygax.

Daemon, Piscodaemon from the *Tome of Horrors, Revised*, © 2002, Necromancer Games, Inc.; Author: Scott Greene, based on original material by E. Gary Gygax.

Froghemoth from the *Tome of Horrors*, © 2002, Necromancer Games, Inc.; Author Scott Greene, based on original material by Gary Gygax.

Ice Golem from the *Tome of Horrors*, © 2002, Necromancer Games, Inc.; Author Scott Greene.

Iron Cobra from the *Tome of Horrors*, © 2002, Necromancer Games, Inc.; Author Scott Greene, based on original material by Philip Masters.

Marid from the Tome of Horrors III, © 2005, Necromancer Games, Inc.; Author Scott Greene.

Mihstu from the Tome of Horrors, Revised, @ 2002, Necromancer Games, Inc.; Author: Scott Greene, based on original material by E. Gary Gygax.

Nabasu Demon from the *Tome of Horrors*, © 2002, Necromancer Games, Inc.; Author Scott Greene, based on original material by Gary Gygax.

Necrophidius from the *Tome of Horrors, Revised*, © 2002, Necromancer Games, Inc.; Author: Scott Greene, based on original material by Simon Tillbrook.

Sandman from the Tome of Horrors, Revised, \odot 2002, Necromancer Games, Inc.; Author: Scott Greene, based on original material by Roger Musson.

Scarecrow from the *Tome of Horrors, Revised*, © 2002, Necromancer Games, Inc.; Author: Scott Greene, based on original material by Roger Musson.

Shadow Demon from the *Tome of Horrors*, @ 2002, Necromancer Games, Inc.; Author Scott Greene, based on original material by Neville White.

Wood Golem from the *Tome of Horrors*, © 2002, Necromancer Games, Inc.; Authors Scott Greene and Patrick Lawinger.

